RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

04-24-2015

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2014AP2432-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

JAMA I. JAMA,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, ELLEN K. BERZ, JUDGE

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (Phone) (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the circuit court misconstrue both the sexual assault statute and the burglary statute to require proof, not just of lack of consent, but lack of consent by a person who was competent to give consent, thereby adding an element not

intended by the legislature to the crimes defined by those statutes?

The circuit court construed both statutes to require lack of consent by a person who was competent to give consent.

2. Did the circuit court err by ordering the entry of a judgment of not guilty of third-degree sexual assault, notwithstanding the jury's verdict convicting the defendant-respondent, Jama I. Jama, of that offense, by applying its erroneous view of the law to find the evidence insufficient to convict him?

The circuit court held that the evidence was insufficient to convict Jama of this offense.

3. If the evidence was sufficient to convict Jama of third-degree sexual assault, would this conviction and Jama's conviction of second-degree sexual assault be mutually exclusive?

The circuit court held that convictions of both seconddegree sexual assault and third-degree sexual assault would be mutually exclusive.

4. Did the circuit court err by ordering the entry of judgments of not guilty of burglary with intent to commit a sexual assault and burglary with intent to steal, notwithstanding the jury's verdicts convicting Jama of those offenses, by applying its erroneous view of the law to find the evidence insufficient to convict him?

The circuit court held that the evidence was insufficient to convict Jama of these offenses.

5. If the evidence was sufficient to convict Jama of the two burglary charges, would these convictions and Jama's conviction of second-degree sexual assault be mutually exclusive?

The circuit court held that convictions of both seconddegree sexual assault and burglary would be mutually exclusive.

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

There is no need for oral argument of this appeal because it would add nothing to the arguments in the briefs. The opinion should not be published because this appeal involves only the application of settled law to the facts of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the state of an order of the Circuit Court for Dane County, Ellen K. Berz, Judge, directing the entry of judgments of not guilty on Counts 2, 3 and 4 of the Amended Information, charging Jama respectively with third-degree sexual assault, burglary with intent to commit the felony of sexual assault, and burglary with intent to steal, notwithstanding the verdicts of the jury finding Jama guilty of all three offenses.

PROCEDURAL STATUS OF THE CASE

Jama was charged in an Amended Information, dated December 20, 2013, with five crimes (25).¹ Count 1 charged Jama with second-degree sexual assault for having sexual intercourse with HH while she was under the influence of an intoxicant to the extent that she was incapable of giving consent (25:1). Count 2 charged Jama with third-degree sexual assault for having sexual intercourse with HH without her consent (25:1). Count 3 charged Jama with burglary for entering the residence of HH without her consent with the intent to commit the felony of sexual assault (25:2). Count 4 charged Jama with burglary for entering the residence of HH without her consent with the intent to steal (25:2). Count 5 charged Jama with misdemeanor theft for stealing moveable property from the residence of HH (25:2).

A four day jury trial was held from February 25 to 28, 2014 (88-93).

After the state presented its case in chief, Jama moved for directed verdicts on all five counts (92:70-71). The circuit court denied the motion with respect to each of these counts (92:80-83).

Following the close of all the evidence, the jury returned verdicts finding Jama guilty of all five counts charged (63; 93:110-11).

¹ This document is numbered "24" in the record, but this is obviously an error since the index to the record lists the Amended Information as document 25, there already is a document 24, the state's supplemental witness list, in the record, and the next document following the Amended Information is numbered 26.

Jama orally moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdicts (93:112-13).

The court promptly denied the motion with respect to counts 1, 2 and 5, i.e., both counts of sexual assault and the count of theft (93:113). But with respect to counts 3 and 4, the two counts of burglary, the court held its decision in abeyance pending briefing by the parties (93:113-15).

After the briefs were submitted (64-68, 72, 74), the court again denied the motion with respect to counts 1 and 5, but changing its mind regarding the charge of third-degree sexual assault, granted the motion with respect to counts 2, 3 and 4 (76:16).

The state filed an appeal from the circuit court's written decision and order directing the entry of judgments of not guilty notwithstanding the verdicts with respect to counts 2, 3 and 4, third-degree sexual assault and burglary (78).

The two remaining counts of second-degree sexual assault and misdemeanor theft proceeded to sentencing and entry of a judgment of conviction (83; 95).

DECISION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT

The circuit court separately considered each of the charges of which Jama was found guilty by the jury to determine whether the evidence was sufficient to convict him of that offense.

1. Misdemeanor Theft

On the charge of misdemeanor theft, the circuit court found that the evidence was sufficient because the security camera in HH's apartment building showed Jama leaving with a red bag belonging to the victim (76:4, A-Ap:104). The police found the red bag in Jama's home (76:4, A-Ap:104). Inside the bag was a remote control device that had been taken from the victim's apartment (76:4, A-Ap:104).

The court found that HH did not consent to the taking of her property because she testified she did not consent and because her apartment had been ransacked, indicating lack of consent (76:4, A-Ap:104).

2. Second-Degree Sexual Assault

The court also found the evidence sufficient to convict Jama of second-degree sexual assault (76:4-6, A-Ap:104-06).

The court found that the victim was unable to consent to sexual activity because she was too intoxicated, as vividly illustrated by the video of her entering her apartment building with Jama helping her walk (76:5, A-Ap:105).

3. Third-Degree Sexual Assault

Before determining whether the evidence was sufficient to convict Jama of third-degree sexual assault, the court considered whether the two verdicts convicting Jama of both second-degree and third-degree sexual assault were mutually exclusive, i.e., whether a finding of guilt on one charge necessarily excluded a finding of guilt on the other charge (76:6, A-Ap:106). Finding no law in Wisconsin, the court looked to other jurisdictions, primarily Illinois, for precedent (76:6-8, A-Ap:106-8).

To determine whether the guilty verdicts on the two sexual assault charges were mutually exclusive, the court engaged in a process of statutory construction to see whether the legislature intended the element of being "incapable of giving consent" in the section defining second-degree sexual assault to be inherently inconsistent with the element of "without consent" in the section defining third-degree sexual assault (76:9, A-Ap:109).

Looking to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(4), which defines consent to mean an agreement by a person who is competent to give informed consent, the court construed third-degree sexual assault to have an additional element (76:9-10, A-Ap:109-10). Not only was it necessary to prove that the defendant had sexual intercourse with the victim and that the victim did not consent to have sex with the defendant, but the state also had to prove that the victim was competent to give consent (76:10, A-Ap:110). The court stated that the issue when a defendant was charged with third-degree sexual assault was "whether the competent person decided to consent" (76:10, A-Ap:110).

Having found that one of the elements of third-degree sexual assault is that the victim was competent to give consent, the court found that third-degree sexual assault was mutually inconsistent with second-degree sexual assault, which requires that the victim be incapable of consenting (76:10-11, A-Ap:110-11). The court determined that a victim could not be competent to give consent and at the same time be incapable of giving consent (76:11, A-Ap:111).

The court found the evidence insufficient to prove that Jama was guilty of third-degree sexual assault because it said that, although the evidence was sufficient to prove that Jama had sexual intercourse with HH, there was absolutely no valid evidence adduced at the trial to support a finding that HH did not consent to have sexual intercourse (76:11, A-Ap:111). Due to her intoxication at the time, HH was unable to clearly testify that she did not consent to have sex with Jama, but could say only that she had no memory of giving consent (76:11-12, A-Ap:111-12). The court held that because HH had no memory of

her encounter with Jama, the state was unable to prove that she did not give consent.

Since the court directed the entry of a judgment of not guilty on count 2, it found that there was no remaining issue with respect to whether a conviction of third-degree sexual assault and the conviction of second-degree sexual assault would be mutually exclusive (76:12, A-Ap:112).

4. Burglary With Intent To Commit A Sexual Assault

The court noted that an element of burglary is that the entry must be without the consent of the person in lawful possession of a dwelling (76:13, A-Ap:113). The court stated that the legislature did not provide any special definition of consent as used in the burglary statute (76:13, A-Ap:113).

Referencing the definition of consent in the sexual assault statute, the court found that the element of consent in the burglary statute was the decision of a competent person, a person with the ability to make an informed decision to give consent (76:13, A-Ap:113). So as it did with the sexual assault statute, the court construed the burglary statute to require an additional element, i.e., that the victim who did not consent to have her home burglarized must be shown to be competent to give consent (76:13, A-Ap:113).

The court stated that by convicting Jama of both second-degree sexual assault and burglary, the jury found that HH had two mutually exclusive mental states, i.e., the ability to consent necessary to convict Jama of burglary and the inability to consent necessary to convict him of second-degree sexual assault (76:14, A-Ap:114). The court found that convictions for both offenses would be mutually exclusive because that would require findings that HH was both competent and not competent to make an informed decision regarding consent.

In discussing the sufficiency of the evidence to convict Jama of burglary, the court found that there was enough evidence to show that Jama entered HH's apartment (76:14, A-Ap:114). However, the court said that there was nothing in Jama's words or actions at the time he entered HH's apartment to indicate that he intended to commit a sexual assault or any other crime (76:15, A-Ap:115).

The court further found that there was no evidence that HH did not consent to Jama's entry into her apartment (76:15, A-Ap:115). At most, she simply had no memory of giving consent (76:15, A-Ap:115). Moreover, there was evidence that the victim told the police she had given Jama consent to enter her apartment (76:15, A-Ap:115).

Thus, the court found that the evidence was insufficient to convict Jama of burglary with intent to commit a sexual assault and entered a judgment of not guilty on this count (76:15, A-Ap:115). This mooted any question with respect to the verdicts of second-degree sexual assault and burglary with intent to commit a sexual assault being mutually exclusive (76:15, A-Ap:115).

5. Burglary With Intent To Steal

For the same reasons the court found the evidence insufficient to convict Jama of burglary with intent to commit a sexual assault, it also found the evidence insufficient to convict him of burglary with intent to steal and entered a judgment of not guilty on this count (76:16, A-Ap:116). This also resolved any problem of mutual exclusivity (76:16, A-Ap:116).

FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES PRESENTED

HH was very intoxicated when she left a bar and started to walk home to her apartment on Gorham Street alone (88:181,

198, 204-05). A man HH did not know and had never seen before approached her and helped her walk home (88:205-07).

Although HH had no memory of the man helping her get into her apartment building and to her apartment door, a security camera in the lobby of HH's building recorded Jama helping HH enter the building and walk to the stairs leading to her second floor apartment (62:ex.41; 88:181, 207-08, 212).

HH could not remember unlocking the door to her apartment or going inside (88:215-16). Although HH could not remember at the time of the trial whether she gave anyone consent to enter her apartment, she previously told the police that she gave Jama consent to enter (89:17-18, 20, 34-35).

HH did recall being inside her apartment and getting hit on the back of her head (88:216). She did not give anyone permission to hit her (88:217).

HH was rendered unconscious either from the blow or the alcohol or both, and had no memory of anything that happened after being hit until she woke up later that day on the floor by the door to her apartment, naked from the waist down (88:216, 218, 222, 285).

HH had no memory of removing any of her clothing, of having sexual intercourse, or of giving anyone consent to have sexual intercourse with her (88:221, 228, 231, 278, 288; 89:23).

After waking up, HH found her clothing on the floor (88:223, 225). She also found a condom wrapper that had not been in her apartment before, and a cell phone that did not belong to her (88:222, 225, 240).

Her apartment had been ransacked, and several items including her own cell phone, a laptop computer, PlayStation,

Xbox, and various controllers were missing (88:228, 235, 241). HH did not give anyone consent to take these items or to enter her apartment for the purpose of stealing these items (88:232).

The security camera caught Jama coming down the stairs and leaving HH's apartment building with a red Bacardi bag that was taken from her apartment (62:exs.42-43; 88:213; 91:83-86). That bag as well as a stolen remote control and game controller were found in Jama's apartment (90:44, 46, 51). The stolen laptop computer and Xbox controllers were found in Jama's brother's car (89:105).

HH did a search of the cell phone she found in her apartment, and found a name associated with the person who owned the phone (88:248). That name was Jama (88:248). Jama's scarf was also found in HH's apartment (91:94).

The State Crime Laboratory found male DNA in the vaginal swab taken from HH, and sperm in the crotch area of HH's underpants (90:17-18). The DNA in the sperm belonged to Jama (90:14-15).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court misconstrued both the sexual assault statute and the burglary statute to require proof, not just of lack of consent, but lack of consent by a person who was competent to give consent, thereby adding an element not intended by the legislature to the crimes defined by those statutes.

The fundamental error made by the circuit court in this case was misconstruing both the sexual assault statute and the burglary statute to require proof, not just of lack of consent, but lack of consent by a person who was competent to give consent,

thereby adding an element not intended by the legislature to the crimes defined by those statutes.

A. The court erroneously added a nonexistent element to the crime of third-degree sexual assault.

Third-degree sexual assault is committed by having sexual intercourse with a person without that person's consent. Wis. Stat. § 940.225(3) (2013-14).

As written, this statute requires the state to prove only two things, that the defendant had sexual intercourse with a person and that this person did not consent to have sexual intercourse with the defendant. Wis. JI-Criminal 1218A (2002). There is no requirement that the person who does not consent must be competent to give consent.

Wisconsin Statute § 940.225(4) defines "consent," as used in the sexual assault statute, to mean "words or overt actions by a person who is competent to give informed consent indicating a freely given agreement to have sexual intercourse or sexual contact."

But the fact that a person must be competent in order to give consent does not mean that a person must be competent in order to not give consent. *See Berg v. State*, 63 Wis. 2d 228, 238, 216 N.W.2d 521 (1974) (error to assume that converse of statement is necessarily true or intended).

This is clear from an additional provision of the definitional statute which states that a person who is unconscious is presumed to be incapable of consenting. Wis. Stat. § 940.225(4)(c).

The obvious meaning of this provision, when read together with the definition of consent, is that when a person is unconscious, and therefore incapable of consenting, there is presumptively no consent, as defined to require the words or acts of a person who is competent to consent. If there is no competence, one of the component parts of the definition that must all come together for there to be consent is missing. So if a person is not competent to consent, there cannot be any consent as that term is defined.

It would be nonsensical to interpret this provision to mean that when a person is incapable of consenting, so that there could not be any consent, the state could not prove that any unwanted sexual intercourse was without consent. *See Orion Flight Serv. v. Basler Flight Serv.*, 2006 WI 51, ¶ 16, 290 Wis. 2d 421, 714 N.W.2d 130 (statute should be interpreted to avoid absurd or unreasonable results).

The principle that a person need not be competent to consent in order to not consent is also clear from case law interpreting and applying this statute.

In *State v. Grunke*, 2008 WI 82, 311 Wis. 2d 439, 752 N.W.2d 769, the defendants asserted the same contention as the circuit court in this case, i.e., that where a person cannot either provide or withhold consent, allowing a prosecution for having sexual intercourse with that person would clash with the requirement in § 940.225(3) that the intercourse occurred without the victim's consent. *Grunke*, 311 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 24.

The supreme court stated that this contention was based on a mistaken interpretation of § 940.225(4) which would improperly require the state to prove that the victim actually withheld consent. *Grunke*, 311 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 28.

But the element of "without consent" in § 940.225(3) requires no affirmative act such as withholding, or refusing, or deciding not to, consent. *Grunke*, 311 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 28. Rather, there must simply be an absence of any such affirmative act. *Grunke*, 311 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 28.

"There is a difference between consent and submission. Every consent involves a submission, but it by no means follows that submission involves consent." *State v. Herfel*, 49 Wis. 2d 513, 519, 182 N.W.2d 232 (1971).

If there is only submission, but no words or acts indicating a freely given agreement to have sexual intercourse, there is no consent. *See Grunke*, 311 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 28; *State v. Long*, 2009 WI 36, ¶ 31, 317 Wis. 2d 92, 765 N.W.2d 557.

The supreme court expressly held that there was no statutory ambiguity or incompatibility between incapacity to consent and lack of consent, as required for a conviction of third-degree sexual assault. *Grunke*, 311 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 25. To the contrary, the court confirmed the obvious when it stated that the element of "without consent" can be proven easily when the victim is not capable of consenting. *Grunke*, 311 Wis. 2d 439, ¶ 25.

"Common sense dictates that in the case of an unconscious person the unconscious state itself, without more, presumptively prevents giving informed consent." *State v. Sauceda*, 168 Wis. 2d 486, 498, 485 N.W.2d 1 (1992). Thus, it was recognized more than a century ago that "where the *will* of the female does not concur with the act, or oppose it, and does not act at all, and where she has no power of consenting or dissenting [because of an intoxicated stupor], the act is said to be "against her will,"" i.e., without her consent. *Quinn v. State*, 153 Wis. 573, 579, 142 N.W. 510 (1913).

Viewed another way, common sense dictates that a person does not have to be competent to do anything in order to do nothing.

B. The court erroneously added a nonexistent element to the crime of burglary.

The circuit court's error is even more pronounced with regard to burglary.

Burglary is committed by intentionally entering any building or dwelling without the consent of the person in lawful possession and with intent to steal or commit a felony. Wis. Stat. § 943.10(1m)(a) (2013-14).

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