RECEIVED

09-29-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Case No. 2014AP2432-CR

JAMA I. JAMA,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL OF ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ELLEN BERZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

COLE DANIEL RUBY Attorney at Law State Bar #1064819

Martinez & Ruby, LLP 144 4th Ave, Suite 2 Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-2000

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

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

The State argues this case is controlled by *State v*. *Grunke*, 2008 WI 82, where the supreme court held that sec. 940.225(4) does not require the State to prove the victim affirmatively withheld consent (State's brief: 13-14). Jama has made no argument that proof of affirmative withholding of consent is required, and neither did the circuit court. The focus of the court's reasoning was not on the victim's decisions, but on the victim's competence (76:10). The court

essentially concluded that the 2nd degree sexual assault applied when the victim is not competent to consent, while 3rd degree sexual assault applied when the victim was competent to consent but made an informed decision not to consent (76:10). That is perfectly consistent with sec. 940.225(4), which requires defines consent as involving a person "competent to give informed consent."

The State's argument that the language in 940.225(4)(c) stating "a person who is unconscious is presumed to be incapable of consenting" means there is presumptively no consent is also unconvincing. The language is ambiguous, because an equally plausible interpretation of that sentence is that it clarifies that such situations are more appropriately charged under sec. 940.225(2)(d) rather than sec. 940.225(3). The language of the provision supports this interpretation, because it says an unconscious person is "incapable of consenting," not that the person is presumed not to have consented.

The circuit court's analysis was correct. The two charges are mutually exclusive. The appropriate remedy is a new trial on both counts, unless this court agrees that the evidence was insufficient to prove one of the counts.

C. The State presented no evidence that HH was competent to give informed consent for sexual intercourse, or that she did not consent in fact, and the court properly acquitted Jama of 3rd degree sexual assault

The circuit court found that, consistent with Wis. Stat. sec. 940.225(4), the competence of HH to give informed consent was a condition precedent to proving a 3rd degree sexual assault, because this was statutorily necessary to show non-consent (76:10). The court then reviewed the testimony and found "absolutely no valid evidence" to support the non-consent element (76:11). Instead, as the court noted, the only evidence presented by the State showed that HH had no memory of giving consent to sexual intercourse; in fact, she had virtually no memory of anything between arriving at her apartment to waking up on the floor, naked from the waist down (76:12).

The State did not dispute the court's claim; instead, the State argued that "the fact that HH had no memory of giving consent ... proves beyond a reasonable doubt that HH did not consent because she could not consent" (State's brief: 18). The State further argued, "No means no. But the absence of yes also means no" (State's brief: 19). But the "absence of yes" does not accurately characterize the evidence; absence of memory of yes more accurately describes HH's testimony.

No memory of consenting is not nearly the same thing as not consenting in fact. Nothing demonstrates this principle more clearly than HH's trial testimony about entry to the apartment building. When asked if she had no memory of arriving at the building, getting inside to the lobby, or going up to her own apartment door, HH answered, "Yes, that's fair" (88:209-10). Further, HH testified she couldn't recall consenting to anyone entering her apartment (89:18). Yet the surveillance video clearly showed HH letting Jama into the building, even giving him her purse to hold while she opened the door (62:ex.41, 88:181). Those events occurred despite her lack of memory, and the video clearly showed her consensually allowing Jama entry into the building. By analogy, HH's lack of memory regarding consent for sexual intercourse is not proof of non-consent.

The circuit court correctly ruled that insufficient evidence was presented establishing HH's competence to give informed consent, or that she did not consent in fact. Lack of memory is not enough. The court properly acquitted Jama of this charge.

D. Alternatively, if the two charges are not mutually exclusive, the court's entry of acquittal

HH: No.

(88: 31) (emphasis added).

¹ For example, see this exchange:

Atty. Barnett: And then if I may, regarding the question of consent, do you have a specific <u>memory of giving anyone consent</u> to having either sexual contact or sexual intercourse with you the early morning hours of September - - I'm sorry - - January 28, 2012?

on 3rd degree sexual assault should be affirmed because convictions for both sexual assault charges violate Jama's right to be free from double jeopardy

If this court determines that the two sexual assault charges are not mutually exclusive because a person unable to consent necessarily does not consent, the court's order acquitting Jama of 3rd degree sexual assault must be affirmed on an alternative ground – convictions for both charges violate double jeopardy principles of the 5th amendment. See *Vanstone v. Town of Delafield*, 191 Wis. 2d 586, 595, 530 N.W.2d 16 (Ct. App. 1995) (appellate courts may affirm on grounds different than those relied on by the circuit court).

The circuit court requested briefing on this issue below (66). The defense submitted a letter brief arguing that the charges violated double jeopardy because they were based on a single act of intercourse, count 1 alleged non-consent based on HH being intoxicated to point of unable to give consent, while count 2 alleged non-consent based on HH not actually consenting (67). The State submitted a brief arguing the charges did not violate double jeopardy because the two charges have different elements; count 1 required proof that HH was incapable of consenting due to intoxication, while count 2 required proof of lack of consent (68). The court's order dismissing counts 2-4 did not address whether counts 1 and 2 violated double jeopardy.

Wisconsin uses a two-prong test to analyze problems of multiplicity. *State v. Selmon*, 175 Wis. 2d 155, 161, 877 N.W.2d 498 (Ct. App. 1993). First, courts apply the "elements-only" test from *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299 (1932). Under this test, the lesser offense must be statutorily included in the greater offense and contain no element in addition to the elements constituting the greater offense. *Selmon*, 175 Wis. 2d at 161-62. It must be "utterly impossible" to commit the greater crime without committing the lesser. *Id.* at 162. The inquiry is a purely legal analysis of the statutes involved with no deference given to the facts of the specific case. *Id.*

If the statutes meet that test, a presumption arises that

the legislature intended to permit cumulative convictions in accordance with those statutes, unless other factors clearly indicate otherwise. *Id.* at 161. Under the second prong of the test, the court reviews the legislative intent to learn whether contrary factors exist. *Id.*

If the State's arguments are correct, it is impossible to commit 2nd degree sexual assault of a person incapable of consenting due to intoxication without committing 3rd degree sexual assault. 3rd degree sexual assault has only two elements—(1) that the defendant had sexual intercourse with HH, and (2) that HH did not consent to the sexual intercourse. The first element is identical to the first element of 2nd degree sexual assault. Therefore, the only question is whether a defendant can have sexual intercourse with a person incapable of consenting due to intoxication without also having sexual intercourse without the person's consent. The State argues that you cannot:

[W]hen a person is unconscious, and therefore incapable of consenting, there is presumptively no consent, as defined to require the words or acts of a person who is competent to consent. If there is no competence, one of the component parts of the definition that must all come together for there to be consent is missing. So if a person is not competent to consent, there <u>cannot be any consent</u> as that term is defined

(State's brief: 13) (emphasis added).

Simply put, according to the State, if a person is incapable of consenting due to intoxication, there cannot be consent, thus the element of non-consent is established. Assuming *arguendo* this argument is correct, then a defendant cannot commit 2nd degree sexual assault (sexual intercourse with a victim incapable of consenting due to intoxication) without committing 3rd degree sexual assault (intercourse without the victim's consent). There is no fact or additional element to be proven. Thus 3rd degree sexual assault would be a lesser-included offense of 2nd degree sexual assault of a person incapable of consenting due to intoxication. Convictions for both based on a single act of intercourse violates double jeopardy.

The circuit court's decision to enter a not guilty verdict on count 2 should be affirmed, either because (1) the evidence was insufficient, (2) the two sexual assault charges are legally inconsistent and mutually exclusive, or, in the alternative, (3) the two sexual assault convictions violate double jeopardy.

II. The Circuit Court Properly Rejected Jama's Guilty Verdicts For Burglary Because No Evidence Was Presented To Show That Jama Entered Without HH's Consent. Alternatively, The Burglary Convictions Were Mutually Exclusive With The 2nd Degree Sexual Assault Charge Because No Evidence Was Presented To Show HH Was Competent To Give Informed Consent

A. Summary of arguments

No evidence was presented at trial to show that Jama entered HH's dwelling without her consent, or that he knew there was no consent. The video surveillance showed affirmatively that she let Jama into the building, and he helped her upstairs to her apartment. HH told an officer that she consented to Jama's entry. At trial, HH testified that she did not recall anything from meeting Jama on the street to the point where she was inside her apartment. For these reasons, the court concluded no evidence existed to support the burglary charges, and rejected the guilty verdicts.

The State's brief on appeal, just like the prosecutor at trial, attempts to evade this evidentiary deficiency by conflating the "without consent" element, arguing that HH did not consent for Jama to enter her apartment for the purpose of sexually assaulting or stealing from her (State's brief: 20). But as the jury instructions make clear, entry without consent is a separate element from the defendant's mental purpose at the time of entry. WI JI CRIM 1424. There may have been evidence to support the latter, but there was no evidence to prove the former.

B. Entry without consent is a separate element from the defendant's mental purpose in entering the premises, no matter how many times the State attempts to conflate the two

The offense of burglary has four elements:

- 1. The defendant intentionally entered a dwelling
- 2. The defendant entered the dwelling without the consent of the person in lawful possession
- 3. The defendant knew that the entry was without consent
- 4. The defendant entered the dwelling with intent to commit (sexual assault/a felony); that is, the defendant intended to commit (sexual assault/a felony) at the time the defendant entered the dwelling

WI JI CRIM 1424.

The circuit court recognized that there was no evidence presented to show HH did not consent to Jama's entry, or that Jama knew he entered without consent (76:15). Regarding entry into the dwelling, HH testified only that couldn't recall consenting to anyone entering her apartment (89:18). She also couldn't recall arriving at the building, getting inside to the lobby, or going up to her own apartment door (88:209-10). But the video surveillance showed each of those things happened, that HH handed Jama her purse while she located her key card and let them both into the building, and that Jama physically assisted HH in walking up to her apartment (62:ex.41, 88:181). And HH had previously told an officer she consented to, and did not try to stop, the suspect from entering her apartment (91:46).

At trial, the prosecutor asked improper, compound questions in an attempt to shore up this problem (76:15). The prosecutor never asked HH whether she consented to the suspect entering into the apartment. Instead, he asked whether she gave anyone consent to enter to take the property of Sonny Torres (88:232-33). In response to the defendant's motions for directed verdict, the State argued its theory on consent to enter was HH did not give consent for anyone to enter the apartment and steal, and did not consent for anyone to enter with intent to commit sexual assault (92:73-74). The State again blurred the line in closing arguments, arguing, "So when he gets to [HH's] apartment door, the defendant has already finalized his plan to sexually assault her, and it's with that intent that he enters the apartment without her consent, because [HH] already told you she did not consent to anyone

entering her apartment to sexually assault her or to steal from her" (93:48).

After the verdicts, the circuit court noted that there was no evidence on the issue of consent to enter, and that although the State asked if she consented for anyone to enter and sexually assault her, the charge did not include that (93:113-14). The court's decision finding Jama not guilty of the burglary charges emphasized this point, that "no legally acceptable, clear answer" was adduced on the question of consent to enter (76:15). The court noted that HH could only testify to lack of memory on this point, and that HH had told an investigating officer she had affirmatively consented to letting Jama into her apartment (76:15). The court's ruling is also supported by the video surveillance showing HH letting Jama into her building.

On appeal, the State still points to no evidence that Jama entered without HH's consent. Instead, the State continues the attempt to conflate the 2nd and 4th elements of burglary, arguing "Although HH may have given Jama consent to come into her apartment for the purpose of helping her get inside, she <u>did not consent to his entry for the purposes of raping and robbing her</u>" (State's brief: 21-22). The trial court properly rejected that argument, as it is not consistent with the jury instructions defining the elements of burglary.

The State argues that law provides that consent to enter premises may be limited to place and purpose, and that HH didn't give consent to Jama entering for the purpose of sexually assaulting or burglarizing her, so the evidence is sufficient to support non-consent (State's brief: 21-22). While the prosecutor argued that to the jury, the jury was never instructed on the "scope of consent" concept. A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is evaluated in light of the jury instructions. See D.L. Anderson's Lakeside Leisure Co. v. Anderson, 2008 WI 126, 314 Wis.2d 560, 757 N.W.2d 803; see also Best Price Plumbing, Inc. v. Erie Insurance Exchange, 2012 WI 44, ¶3, 340 Wis.2d 307, 814 N.W.2d 419 (sufficiency must be reviewed "in the context of the instructions that were given the jury"). As the United States Supreme Court observed in Chiarella v. United States, 445

U.S. 222, 236 (1980), reviewing courts "cannot affirm a criminal conviction on the basis of a theory not presented to the jury."

In this case, the court instructed the jury only that the 2nd element of the burglary charges required proof that "the defendant entered the dwelling without the consent of the person in lawful possession," and the 3rd elements required that "the defendant knew that the entry was without consent" (93:24-26). No further definition of consent was requested by the State to support its "limited scope" argument. The State offered no objection to the jury instructions given (93:6).

If the State wanted the jury to convict based on an expanded definition of "consent," it needed to request a jury instruction providing the necessary legal framework. "[W]hen a cause is submitted to the jury under an instruction, not patently incorrect or internally inconsistent, to which no timely objection has been lodged, the instruction becomes the law of the case." *United States v. Gomes*, 969 F.2d 1290, 1294 (1st Cir. 1992). In such situations, courts review for whether there was "evidence sufficient to support [the] convictions under the law of the case," that is, evidence sufficient to establish the elements required by the actual instructions given. *Id.* The law of this case was silent as to any limitations on consent.

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